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Summary 

The Kzchie Grocery Building is a two story, brick masonry cornmenid retail and warehouse 
structure designed in the later, less three-dimensional interpretation of the Rornanesque Revival 
style. The plan is roughly square, with a me& awning on two sides and a s m n e d  porch on 
a third. It is located at the m e r  of Front and Olive S e t s  in downtown Texarkana. 

Elaboration 

The Ritchie W r y  Building is a two stmy, brick masonry, commercial retail and warehouse 
building designed in the later, more delicate interpretation of the Romanesque Revival f r s t  
made popular in America by the Boston architect H.H. Richardson. Its plan is roughly square 
with a later metal awning covering a later concrete loading dock on the southern and eastern 
elevations and a screened porch on the northern elevation. Three concrete chimneys are rise 
from the interior near the eastern elevation and the gable mfed cover to the elevator shaft - rises toward the southern elevation, The flat, built-up tar mf is set behind a brick parapet, 
the walls are sheathed with brick and the entire mcture is supported by a continuous cast 
concrete foundation, A partial basement beneath the building originally housed refrigeration 
equipment. 

The eastern or fmnt elevation features a central, sIightly projecting bay with a double-leaf 
cargo door and arched, mul&pane transom in the fxst flaur and three arched windows in the 
second flm. The first story wall to the south of the projecting bay is punctuated with two 
double-leaf cargo doors flanking two smaller arched windows. The wall to the north on the 
fmt story features t h m  arched window openings - each subdivided into wo smaller arched 
windows with an arched transom above - placed around another arched entry. The second story 
wall is fenesaated by six pair of arched windows placed symmetrically around the central 
projecting bay. A metal cornice completes the elevation. 

The southern elevation is accessed by four separate, double-leaf arched entries on the first 
floor, with srndler arched windows placed between them. The second srory is lighted by 
eleven arched windows, though there were orignally thirteen openings (two have since been 
fded). A metal cornice caps this elevation also. The northern elevation opposite is simiIar, 
with several compound arched windows placed around smaller arched windows and cargo 
enmies on the first floor and a second story lighted with the same tall, n m w  arched 
windows. The western elevation is bfank. 

Significant exterior damation includes the ornamentation of the cargo entry on the eastern 
elevation with a delicate, Classical w d  pediment, the rimming of the arched windows with 
a thin come of shallow brick frim and the denrillat& metal cornice. 
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The interior was miginally divided into but two floors; an intermediate floor within the fist 
story was installed at some point in the m n t  past. Some of the original office areas survive 
on he first flm, as dms an early stabvell, complete with turned balustrade. The external 
walls are not c o v ~  on either floor; the original wood floors remain and an early elevator 
continues to provide access to the upper level. The second floor is largely open and interrupted 
only by thc intermittent rows of supporting columns; the result is a grand, open space, 
reminiscent of n ballroom. 

The Ritchie Grocery Building has suffered few serious alterations. Two second story windows 
have been filed, an intermediate floor has been a m  (which the prospective owner pIms to 
remove) and the metd awning and loading dock have been added. 
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Summary Criterion C, local significance 

T h e  Ritchie G T O C ~ ~ ~  Building is the only turn-af-the-century commercial building still standing 
on Front Street in Texarkana, Arkansas, and the best example of a Romanesque Revival 
commerciat building to survive intact. 

Elaboration 

The Ritchie Grocery Building is the only m-of- theantmy building still smnding on Front 
Smet in Texarkana, Arkansas. The building is located at the corner of Front Street and Olive 
(formerly Vine), about 1 112 blocks east of the state line between Arkansas and Texas. Front 
Smet is the first smet north of the railread macks along which the original [awn was laid out. 
The tracks of the Texas and Pacific Railroad and h e  St. Louis, h n  Mountain and Southern 
Raflway met at the state line and prompted the creation of the city at this location. The fitst 
lots on the Texas side of town were sold on December 8, 1873, Texarkana, Arkansas was 
incorporated as a town on November 12, 1880 and the plat of the original town was recorded 
December 13, 1880. 

Frances William Mullins moved to Texarkana in 1884 to establish the Texas Produce 
company, a wholesale produce and jymery business and Ihe f ~ s t  in the city. The company 
was originally located on the Texas side of town on Main Street. A 1893 map of the city 
bears a directory of' businesses which lists the Texas Produce company as selling groceries and 
beer at Pine and Clinton (now West 3rd Strect). This building was built c. 1900 to house the 
company. The original structure occupies Lots 21-24, Block 75, original city of Texarkana; 
these lots were purchased in she spring of 1895 from two separate individuals and a deed of 
trust given to Adolphus Busch of St. Louis on July 23, 1895 as security for a $15,000 loan. 

3Mr, Mullins is credited with revolutionizing the wholesale ptduce and p e r y  business by 
using the railways to make W y  shipments of perishable g& to Little Rock, Pine Bluff nnd 
points in Texas. Mullins served as mayor of Texerrkana, Arkansas for two terms between 1896- 
1900, during which plans were made for building streets throughout the city. He was also a 
member of the school ba rd  f b r n  1889-1896 and from 1909-1914. Mullins died at the age of 
67 on Septemkr 4, 1917, 

In February of 1926 the building was sold to the Ritchie Grocery Company fur $60,1000. 
Sometime later Zots No. 18-20 were purchased adjoining the original four lots on the west and 
a one-story masonry addition was constructes (extant). The Ritchie Grocery Company was 
organized in Camden, Arkansas in 1886 and headquartered in El Dorado, Arkansas by 1903. 
It was founded by J.C. Ritchie and W.W. Brown for the primar)l purpose of selling fwd stuffs 
and hay for livestock; however, due to its almost immediate success, ia soon expanded into 
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"staple led fancy groceries," carrying a much broader h e  of such other items as hardware 
and appliances. Its success also led to the establishment of one of Arkansas' earliest chain 
wholesale department stores: in addition to operating the El D o d o  and T e x h a  s t m s  by 
1926, the Company opened stores in Pine Bluff and Magnolia at a b u t  the same time. The 
Ritchie Grocery Company operated the Texarkana branch of its wholesale grocery business in 
this building until the mid-1970's and continues to own the building. 

The Ritchie Gmery Company Building is the only Romanesque Revival building remaining 
in downtown Texwknna with this degree of integrity and architecnrral quality: the monumental, 
arched openings on the fitst floor conanst nicely with the more restmind, vertical arched 
windows on the second floor, creating an easy and unified visual transition from the fmt floor 
to the second. There m other masonry buildings of similar style and age in the area but most 
are along the main business thoroughfare of Broad Street and have been renovated with new 
facades, windows and store fronts. An adaptive reuse of the Rehie Grocery Company 
Building is planned which will converz the upper floor to loft apartments, remove the 

I 

RT 

intermediate f l a w  md convert the first floor to a market of smal l  food and produce vendors. 
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Verbal Boundam Description 

Lots 18-24, Blmk 75, Origind City of Texarkana, Arkansas 


















